ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


Error 1) 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying the petitioner's Writ of Habeas 
Corpus based on court-appointed counsel's filing of a Certificate of No 
Merit. 

Error 2) 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying the petitioner's Writ of Habeas 
Corpus based on the failure to make a specific findings of fact and 
conclusions of law, regrading the cognizable issues raised in violation 
of West Virginia Code § 53-4A-7Ccl. 

Error 3) . The Circuit Court erred· in denying the petitioner's Writ of Habeas 
Corpus based on Ineffective Assistance of Trial Counsel. 

A) 	 Trail Counsels' failed to object to consecutive sentencing on Double 
Jeopardy "carbon copy" counts in the indictment. 

B) 	 Trail Counsels' failed to move to have child complaining witness 
independently examined by a psychologist and psychiatrist to rule out, 
outside and coercive influences by the police, prosecution, and a family 
member, and to establish whether false memory implantation existed. 

C) 	 Trail Counsel violated Petitioner's (5th) Fifth Amendment Right to Self
Incrimination. 

D) 	 Trail Counsels' failed to object to the illegal Prosecution Practices at the 
1st grand jury to bring an indictment. 

Error 4) 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying the petitioner's Writ of Habeas 
Corpus based on evidence being with held until the date of the original 
trial contravenes with the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. 

Error 5) 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying the petitioner's Writ of Habeas 
Corpus based on the Trial Courts failure to conduct a proper an~ 
complete voir dire which denied this petitioner a jury of his peers free 
from prejudice and bias in derogation of the Sixth Amendment to the 
United States Constitution. 

Error 6). 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying the petitioner's Writ of Habeas 
Corpus based on the Trial Court violating the general rule of 
sequestering and thereby prejudiced the petitioner by permitting 
Sergeant Matthew Scott Adams to testify following a key complaining 
witness and not having been excluded from the courtroom. 

Error 7) 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying the petitioner's Writ of Habeas 
Corpus based on the fact that the petitioner is a pro se, litigant which 
does not know the law, nor the process 0 law and needs the expertise 
of an experienced and competent attorney/counsel to define the errors 
of court this in regards to Ineffective Assistance of Direct Appeal 
Counsel. 
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STATEMENT OF CASE 


The petitioner was indicted On May 20,2010, by a grand jury on (4) Four Counts. 

Counts (1-2) One through Two Sexual assault in the first degree, and Counts (3-4) Three 

Through Four, Sexual abuse in the first degree. See Appendix P.P. 1-3. 

On January 10, 2011, the petitioner was indicted by a grand jury on (18) Eighteen 

Counts. Counts (1-4) One through Four Sexual assault in the first degree, Counts (5-9) Five 

through Nine Sexual abuse in the first degree, and Counts (10-18) Ten through Eighteen 

Sexual abuse by a person in the position of trust to a child. See Appendix P.P. 4-16. 

On August 5,2011, the petitioner was convicted of (18) Eighteen Counts. Counts 

(1-4) One through Four Sexual assault in the first degree, Counts (5-9) Five through Nine 

Sexual abuse in the first degree, and Counts (10-18) Ten through Eighteen Sexual abuse 

by a person in the position of trust to a child. 

On October 21, 2011, the petitioner was sentenced to (215-705) Two Hundred 

Fifteen to Seven Hundred Five years in the West Virginia Penitentiary for Men, with (50) 

Fifty Years Supervised release. See Appendix P.P. 17-20. 

Thereafter, the petitioner by court appointed counsel filed in a timely manner a direct 

appeal in the West Virginia Supreme Courts of Appeals. Subsequently, said petition was 

affirmed. 

Petitioner then on July 17, 2013, in a timely manner filed a Writ of Habeas Corpus 

and on February 13, 2015, Counsel for Petitioner flied a Certificate of No Merit, and on May 

21,2015, the Honorable James P. Mazzone, dismissed said petition. See Appendix P.P. 

21-23. 

Petitioner therefore appeals the following: 

SUMMARY ARGUMENT 

Petitioner argues that he is a pro se, litigant with no knowledge of the law nor 

the process of law, however, he has legitimate claims that need to be adjudged in the lower 

Page 2 of 35 



courts before going forward to the Federal Courts. In all the court systems, a certain amount 

of leniency is afforded to the pro se litigant. It appears that the Circuit Courts take the 

"easy" way out by using the loophole in the Habeas Corpus Statue which declares that a 

judge may dismiss the claims if there seems to be a mere recitation of claims. Although this 

is convenient for a judge to instantly dismiss a Writ of Habeas Corpus, it is not justice and 

is a violation of the Due Process Clauses of the United states Constitution. 

Therefore, the petitioner in a timely manner filed a pro se motion for a Writ of Habeas 

Corpus ad-subjiciendum with a motion for appointment of counsel, and a motion to hold an 

Omnibus/Evidentiary hearing. 

On May 21,2015, said petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus was denied by the Circuit 

Court of Ohio County, based upon the court appointed counsel's Certificate of No Merit 

without holding an Omnibus/Evidentiary hearing to permit petitioner to develop the pro se 

grounds asserted in his initial Writ of Habeas Corpus. Nor, did the Circuit Court of Ohio 

County, issue a findings of fact and conclusions of law granting him relieffrom his conviction 

and sentences under West Virginia Code § 53-4A-7(c). 

The pertinent, and true facts of petitioner's criminal case, while extremely 

unfortunate, are not complicated, or critical, to the issues in this proceeding. Moreover, 

petitioner asserts the circuit court abused its discretion and erred rn dismissing his Habeas 

Corpus petition without holding an omnibus/evidentiary hearing, nor issuing findings of fact 

and conclusions of law. 

In summary, the petitioner's pro se Habeas Corpus petition initially and specifically 

alleged on January 10, 2011, the petitioner was indicted by a grand jury on (18) Eighteen 

Counts. Counts (1-4) One through Four Sexual assault in the first degree, Counts (5-9) Five 

through Nine Sexual abuse in the first degree, and Counts (10-18) Ten through Eighteen 

Sexual abuse by a person in the position of trust to a child. 

Therefore, petitioner states the foregoing grounds and allegations are sufficient to 

entitle him to a hearing on the claims of ineffective assistance of Trial and Appellate 
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Counsel. After, all this court held in State ex reI. Watson v. Hill, 200 W.Va. 201, 204, 488 

S.E.2d 476,479, (1997), in directing the Circuit Court to hold a hearing on a Habeas of 

petitioners's ineffective assistance of counsel claim, this court acknowledged a judge who 

presided at trial is sufficiently familiar with the underlying proceedings to determine most 

habeas issues without a hearing. Wherefore, petitioner maintains that the circuit court 

abused its discretion in not holding a hearing on his ineffective assistance of counsel claims 

to allow petitioner to an amended habeas petition. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Pursuant to R.A.P 18(a)(4), petitioner feels the facts and legal arguments are 

adequately presented within the brief and record on appeal, and the decisional process 

would not be significantly aided by oral argument. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In this case, this court is charged with reviewing the Circuit Court's Denial of the 

Petitioner's - Petition for Appeal of Habeas Corpus. In performing this task the standard of 

review is: 

"[i]n reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court in a 

habeas corpus action, we apply a three-prong standard of review. We review the final order 

and the ultimate disposition under an abuse ofdiscretion standard; the underlying factual 

findings under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law are subject to a de 

novo review. Syl. Pt. 1, Mathena v. Haines, 219 W.Va. 417, 633 S.E.2d 771(2006); In 

reviewing a circuit court's ruling on claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, this court has 

held: 

An ineffective assistance of counsel claim presents a mixed question of law and fact; 

we review the circuit court's findings of historical fact of clear error and its legal conclusions 

de novo. This means that we review the ultimate claim of ineffective assistance of counsel 
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de novo and the circuit court's findings of underlying predicate facts more deferentially. Syl. 

Pt. 1, State v. Warden, 207 W.Va. 11,528 S.E. 2d 207 (1999). These standards guide us 

in considering the issues raised by the appellant." State ex reI.. Kitchen v. Painter, 2010 

W.Va. LEXIS 63 (2010), Supreme Court No. 34713 (June2010). 

ARGUMENTS 

1) 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying the petitioner's Writ of Habeas Corpus 
based on court-appointed counsel's filing of a Certificate of No Merit. 

Petitioner avers that counsel for petitioner then filed a Certificate of No Merit, stating 

that the petitioner's Writ of Habeas Corpus, had no merit. This without consulting with the 

petitioner to go over the "Losh List".. 

in this particular case wherein court-appointed counsel Mr. Panepinto filed a 

Certificate of No Merit without consulting with petitioner to discuss the case, and without 

amending the petition for Habeas Corpus contained in the case file prepared by petitioner. 

The action taken by Mr. Panepinto without petitioner's knowledge, consent or wavier that 

compelled the circuit court to summarily dismiss this case from the docket. 

Petitioner will later in this brief show that there is merit to the Writ of Habeas Corpus 

and that counsel failed to consult with the petitioner and go over the "Losh List" with 

petitioner to be able to justify if there was or was not merit to this case. 

In orderforthe petitioner to carry his claims to the Federal Courts system, his claims 

must be adjudged and fully adjudicated in the lower courts. It was the circuit courts order 

to deny the petitioners's Writ of Habeas Corpus, after, court appointed habeas counsel filed 

a[n] Anders's Brief Certificate of No Merit stating there was no merit to the case. See 

Appendix P.P. 24-25. 

Now, petitioner contends W.Va. Code § 53-4A-1(b) (2010), and the principles 

articulated in Losh v. McKenzie, 166 W.Va. 762; 277 S.E. 2d 606 (1981), (Neely, J,.) Held 

that "every person convicted of a crime shall have ...... one omnibus/evidentiary post 
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conviction hearing at which he/she may present any collateral issues which have not been 

previously fully and fairly litigated." 

The petitioner also claims there are exceptions to the mandate rule as explained in 

United States v. Aramony, 166 F. 3d 655, at 661 (4!h Cir. 1988); and even through the 

mandate of an appellate court "not contemplate resurrecting an issue on remand, the trial 

court may still posses some limited discretion to reopen the issue in special situations." Bell, 

988 F.2d at 250-51. These circumstances are as follows:( 1) a "showing that controlling legal 

authority has changed dramatically; (2) that significant new evidence, not earlier obtainable 

in exercise of due diligence has come to light; or (3) that a blatant error in the prior decision 

will , if not corrected, result in a serious injustice." Id, At 251; accord Sejman v. Warner

lambert Co., 845 F.2d 66, (4!h Cir. 1988). 

This court also previously ruled that, in habeas proceedings"the burden of proof rests 

on the petitioner to rebut the presumption that he intelligently and knowingly waives any 

contention and/or ground for relief which he could have advanced upon direct appeal,"and 

that "the circuit court is obligated at some point to afford him a[n] opportunity to offer proof 

to meet[this] burden." Losh v. McKenzie, 166 W.Va. 762; 277 S.E.2d606 (1981), citing, 

Ford v. Coiner, 156 W.Va. 362,196 S.E2d 91 (1972). 

Therefore, how can any pro se petitioner afforded himself of herself the opportunity 

in a state court forum to offer proof to meet the foregoing burden established by this court 

if the circuit courts have sole discretion to summarily dismiss a pro se habeas petition 

without appointing counsel to investigate the case and to file an amended habeas petition 

to compel the circuit court to hold an omnibus/evidentiary hearing to permit counsel to 

develop the grounds asserted on the record applying for post-conviction relief a conviction 

and sentence on petitioner's behalf under W.va. Code § 53-4A-1 et seq. 

Actually this court observed that, "[t]he word 'waived' is susceptible to numerous 

meanings and in the context of a post-conviction proceedings it is important to distinguish 

whether we are referring to a knowing and intelligent forbearance from the assertion of 
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known rights or whether we are referring to an artificial procedural rule concerning the 

finality of judgements." Losh, 166 W.Va. at 765, 277 S.E.2d At 609. 

In answering the question it posted in the paragraph above, his court concluded that 

''the Legislature clearly intended that the concept of wavier was not interpreted in a strict, 

artificial, procedural sense. The Legislature selected the phase "intelligently and knowingly," 

language borrowed from the federal constitutional law." Id, at 765-66,609, 10, citing, Fay 

v. Noia, 372 U.S. 391 (1963), (interpreting waived as requiring that the doctrine be involved 
I 

only when a defendant deliberately by-passes an opportunity to assert a right or voluntary 

relinquishes it)." 

Wherefore, the same consideration to the concept of waiver should be given in a 

case when a petitioner by pro se or via court-appointed counsel in a direct appeal, a habeas 

petition, and a final habeas fail to include all the valid assignment of errors and/or grounds 

in a direct petition for appeal or post-conviction habeas petition is afforded in the case of 

an appeal of a circuit court criminal conviction. In these cases, a crimin~1 defendant or 

incarcerated petitioner is denied the constitutional right to a fair hearing, by depriving the 

state's low and high tribunals of the opportunity to consider the full range of the petitioner's 

meritorious assignment of errors, habeas grounds and arguments via the direct petition for 

appeal, habeas corpus petition, and final appeal. Thus, a deprivation of the habeas 

petitioner's rights occurs in such a case, where the failure to advance a ground for relief in 

the initial pro se and/or amended habeas petition, or to properly appeal the circuit court's 

denial of a habeas petition, arises solely as the result of a decision by a pro se petitioner 

of his or her court-appointed counsel, without being knowingly and intelligent waived by 

petitioner. 

In further support of the petitioner's issue he avers that this court insisted that the 

interest in permitting an incarcerated petitioner the opportunity to present all available 

grounds for relief in post-conviction habeas proceedings should outweigh considerations 

of the strict application of procedural rules. Lash, 166 W.Va. at 766,277 S.E.2d At 610 
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("Rules of finality which prevent consideration of the merits ofa post-conviction claim should 

be applied with caution."). 

As such, the petitioner implores this court to opine the rational in Turner may 

carry over in habeas corpus collateral proceedings in the circuit court to prevent counsel for 

a petitioner from filing a Certificate of No Merit without first consulting with an incarcerated 

petitioner to obtain a wavier, or to compel counsel to file the amended habeas petition for 

the circuit court to decide whether or not it has merit. In doing so this will protect a 

petitioner's rights to due process and equal protection under the federal and state court 

forum on the merits. Besides this it may result in finality in a deluge of cases to prevent I 

convicted incarcerated petitioner's from filing frivolous petitions for a writ of habeas corpus 

in the state's low and high tribunals. 

As such the petitioner asserts that the state cannot claim for the sake of argument 

in its response that it objects to him re-raising previous assignment of errors or additional 

grounds because their deemed waived or res judicata attaches thereto. As is demonstrated 

herein, the circuit court will be precluded from considering all the cognizable grounds 

against petitioner's wishes. Thus, he would be likely to prevail on grounds re-raised in a 

properly presented amended habeas petition if the circuit court is instructed again via 

remand by this court to appoint habeas counsel to fully investigate his case, to file the 

amended habeas petition to compel the state to file a response, and for the circuit court to 

finally hold an omnibus/evidentiary hearing to permit petitioner to develop all the cognizable 

grounds applying for state post-conviction relief. 

See also, Sherrod v. Ballard, SCAWV No.13-1141 & 14-0232 (September 19, 2014); 

State ex rei. Watson v. Hill, 200 W.Va. 201, 204, 488 S.E.2d 476,479, (1997); Banks v. 

Trent, 206 W.va. 255, 523 S.E.2d 846 (1999); Dennis v. Waid, 223 W.Va. 590; 678 

S.E.2d 470; (2009); and Losh v. McKenzie, 166 W.Va. 762; 277 S.E.2d 606 (1981). 

2) 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying the petitioner's Writ of Habeas Corpus 
based on the failure to make a specific findings offact and conclusions of law, 
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regrading the cognizable issues raised in violation of West Virginia Code § 53
4A-7(c). 

This petitioner argues that the lower courts failed to make specific findings of fact and 

conclusions of law regarding the claims raise in his initial Writ of Habeas Corpus Petition. 

In orderforthis petitioner to carry his claims to the Federal Courts system, his claims 

must be adjudged and fully adjudicated in the lower courts. It was that circuit courts order 

to deny this petitioners's Writ of Habeas Corpus, after, court appointed habeas counsel filed 

a[n] Anders's Brief Certificate of No Merit stating there was no merit to the case. See 

Appendix P.P. 24-25. 

The succinct statement as to why this court should review the issue is based 

upon the fact the p~ti6ne;;~vided the circuit court with variable grounds in his initial pro 

se habeas petition with adequate supporting facts in compliance with West Virginia Code 

§ 54-4A-1 et seq., and the Rules Governing Post-Conviction Habeas Corpus Proceedings, 

Rule 4 (c); it states to issue a findings of facts and conclusions of law. 

" West Virginia Code § 53-4A-7(c)(1994); requires a circuit court denying or 

granting relief in a habeas corpus proceeding to make specific findings of fact and 

conclusions of law relating to each contention advanced by the petitioner, and to 

state the grounds upon which the matter was determined." 

In as much, The circuit court abused its discretion when it granted court-appointed 

counsel's certificate of no merit resulting in an "ORDER" summarily dismissing petitioner's 

Writ of Habeas Corpus on May 21, 2015. 

This petitioner argues that this court recognized "In most circumstances the failure 

to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding an issues raised in his 

habeas proceedings, necessitates a remand." Dennis v. Division ofcorr. , 678 S.E.2d 470, 

2009 W.Va. Lexis 24 (2009). The Dennis opinion is a text book common law decision to 

remind all circuit court judges in habeas corpus proceedings to provide specific findings of 

fact and conclusions of law in a comprehensive order properly address the cognizable 

Page 9 of 35 



grounds raised in the petition for writ of habeas corpus. Also see, Watson v. Hill, 200 

W.Va.201, 488 S.E.2d 476 (W.Va.1997), wherein this court examined West Virginia Code 

§ 53-4A-7(c), and concluded in Syl. Pt. 1, that: West Virginia Code § 53-4A-7(c)(1994); 

requires a circuit court denying or granting relief in a habeas corpus proceeding to make 

specific findings of fact and conclusions of law relating to each contention advanced by this 

petitioner, and to state the grounds upon which the matter was determined. Also after 

reviewing the findings of fact and conclusions of law articulated by the circuit court in State 

ex rei .. Watson, this court held that the circuit court's rational was legally insufficient. See 

also, Banks v. Trent, 206 W.Va. 255,523 S.E.2d 846 (1999); and Markley v. Coleman, 

215 W.Va. 729,601 S.E.2d 49 (2004). 

In the case at hand, the circuit court did not make any findings of fact and 

conclusions of law and failed to address each and every contention raised in the habeas 

petition. In fact, the circuit court failed to hold an omnibus/evidentiary hearing, in compliance 

with this court's holding in Gray v. Ballard, SCAWV Case No. 35723 (Remanded) 

November 9,2010, and in the spirit ofWest Virginia Code § 53-4A-7(c); therefore the circuit 

court clearly abused its discretion in granting counsel's Certificate of No Merit. See, 

Shamblin v. Hey, 163 W.Va.369, 399, 256 S.E.2d 435, 437 (1979). 

However, in determining whether a habeas petition and accompanying documents 

indicate that this petitioner is entitled to relief, the reviewing court must evaluate the request

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