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

The Court followed this standard practice when promulgating West Virginia Rule of 

Appellate Procedure 10(c)(10), the rule Watts now asks the Court to unilaterally extend to all 

circuit court proceedings by a completely different and disfavored process. By a rules order, the 

Court requested public comment on its proposed revisions and allotted a sixty-day comment 

period. Rules Order (July 13, 2015), http://www.courtswv.gov/legal-community/court

ruies/Orders/20 151RAP -Public-Comment -J uly-2015. pdf. The Court specifically requested input 

from interested parties, including the West Virginia Public Defender Services, West Virginia 

Prosecuting Attorney's Institute, the Appellate Division of the West Virginia Attorney General's 

Office, and the Office of Disciplinary Counsel. Id. After considering "a number of insightful 
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comments," the Court fInalized its amendments, incorporating various changes as a result of the 

comments received, and set an effective date of January 1, 2016 for the new procedures to take 

effect. http://www.courtswv.gov/legal-cornmunity/court-rules/Orders/2015/ 

RAP Amendments _November24-20 15.pdf. 

D. Watts Is Not Entitled To A Retroactive Application Of The Rule. 

1. Regardless of whether this Court opts to expand the reach of Rule 1 OCc)(1 0) to circuit 

court proceedings, Watts is not entitled retroactive application of this rule. Watts fails to cite any 

case to signal why retroactive application of Rule 1 O(c)(1 0) would be appropriate or necessitate 

remand. Instead he merely tacks on to the end of his argument a single sentence asserting that if 

the Court adopts his position that Rule 1 O(c)(1 0) extend to apply to circuit court proceedings, 

"[t]his case should be remanded for appointment of new habeas counsel to assist the Petitioner in 

a manner consistent with the above position." Pet'r Br. at 9. 

This Court has already denied retroactive application of Rule 1 O(c)(1 0) in comparable 

circumstances. In the recent Peters decision, petitioner alleged ineffective assistance of counsel 

and argued that his habeas counsel should have followed the procedure outlined in Rule 

1O(c)(1 0), which was not yet in effect at the time of counsel's representation. 2016 WL 1547168, 

at *4. This Court declined to retroactively apply Rule 10(c)(10) to petitioner'S appeal, "[b]ecause 

habeas counsel complied with the law then in effect in West Virginia," and because petitioner 

did not raise and thus waived any argument that the conduct did not meet the "constitutional 

minimum for court-appointed counsel." ld. 6 

6 To the extent that Watts argues that this Court decided in Peters that Rule 10(c)(10) extends to 
circuit court proceedings, he is incorrect. Watts asserts that this Court's memorandum decision in 
Peters instructs that "where the Anders procedure would otherwise apply, courts should now 
apply Rule 1 OCc)(1 0) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure." Pet'r Br. 9. But Peters did no such 
thing. Instead, the Court explicitly restricted the import of the amended Rules of Appellate 
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Peters demonstrates that, even if this Court decides to extend the reach of Rule 1 O(c)(1 0) 

to cover circuit court proceedings, the Rule would not apply retroactively to Watts's circuit court 

proceedings. Like in Peters, Rule 10(c)(1O) came into effect long after the date of counsel's 

challenged conduct. The circuit court released its order denying Watts's habeas petition on May 

21, 2015, nearly a month before Rule 10(c)(10) had even been proposed, and more than six 

months before the Court ordered Rule 1 O(c)(1 0) to take effect. AR 27-29. And also similarly to 

Peters, Watts does not argue and thus has waived any argument that counsel's use in circuit 

court proceedings of the procedure in effect before Rule 1 O(c)(1 0) did not meet the constitutional 

minimum standards guaranteed by the law in effect at the time. Just as this Court did in Peters, 

this Court should decline to retroactively apply any new chosen policy to govern the 

representation Watts received in circuit court under the law then in effect in West Virginia. 

Therefore, Watts's request for remand should be denied. 

2. And even if this court did decide to apply Rule 1O(c)(10) retroactively, it would not 

affect the outcome of this case, because Watts received assistance that complied substantially 

with Rule 1 O(c)(1 0). Rule 1 O(c)(1 O)(b) instructs that, "if counsel is ethically compelled to 

disassociate from any assignments of error that the client wishes to raise" counsel must 

"request[] leave for the client to file a pro se supplemental brief raising those assignments of 

error that the client wishes to raise but that counsel does not have a good faith belief are 

reasonable or warranted." In this case, because counsel was ethically required to disassociate 

from all of Watts's contentions, Rule IO(c)(1 0) would have instructed that Watts be afforded the 

Procedure to only "govern counsel's conduct in appeals of [habeas] cases." Peters, 2016 WL 
1547168 at *4 (emphasis added) (discussing only whether to retroactively apply Rule 1O(c)(10) 
to petitioner's lone appellate ineffective assistance allegation-that counsel was ineffective 
because "counsel forced petitioner to file the instant appeal by himself.") 
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opportunity to file a pro se brief asserting his claims. However, because Watts had already filed a 

pro se brief expressing each and every contention he wished to raise, counsel's filing of the 

certificate of no merit dissociating from the case in no way prevented Watts from having his 

claims considered in full by the circuit court. Therefore, because the assistance Watts received 

substantially complied with Rule IO(c)(lO), remand would not be necessary. 

ID. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED WATTS'S HABEAS 
PETITION WITHOUT A HEARING. 

A. 	 The Circuit Court's Order Made Sufficient Findings Of Fact And Conclusions 
Of Law To Justify Its Denial Of Watts's Meritless Habeas Petition. 

Watts next argues that he is entitled to remand because the circuit court failed to make 

"any independent fmdings of fact and conclusions of law to support its decision to deny the 

habeas corpus petition." Pet'r Br. at 3; see also id. at 9-12. But Watts's contention that the 

circuit court "abdicated its responsibilities ... by relying on counsel's so-called Certificate of No 

Merit in dismissing the habeas petition," Pet'r Br. at 4; see also id. at 9-12, should be rejected, 

because the circuit court made sufficient findings of fact and conclusion of law to deny Watts's 

meritless habeas petition. This Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of Watts's habeas 

petition and deny Watts's request for remand. 

In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court in a habeas 

corpus action, this Court reviews the final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of 

discretion standard; the underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard; and 

questions of law under a de novo standard. Syl. Pt. 1, Mathena v. Haines, 219 W. Va. 417, 633 

S.E.2d 771 (2006). This Court has specifically held that "[f]indings of fact made by a trial court 

in a post-conviction habeas corpus proceeding will not be set aside or reversed on appeal by this 
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Court unless such findings are clearly wrong." Syi. Pt. 1, State ex rei. Postelwaite v. Bechtold, 

158 W. Va. 479, 212 S.E.2d 69 (1975). 

There is no requirement for a court's findings of fact and conclusions of law to be 

lengthy. "[A] court having jurisdiction over habeas corpus proceedings may deny a petition for a 

writ of habeas corpus without a hearing and without appointing counsel for the petitioner if the 

petition, exhibits, affidavits or other documentary evidence filed therewith show to such court's 

satisfaction that the petitioner is entitled to no relief." SyI. Pt. 1, Perdue v. Coiner, 156 W. Va. 

467, 194 S.E.2d 657 (1973). West Virginia Code section 53-4A-7(c) "requires a circuit court 

denying or granting relief in a habeas corpus proceeding to make specific findings of fact and 

conclusions of law relating to each contention advanced by the petitioner, and to state the 

grounds upon which the matter was detennined." SyI. Pt. 1, State ex reI. Watson v. Hill, 200 W. 

Va. 201, 488 S.E.2d 476 (1997); see also West Virginia Code § 53-4A-7(c); W. Va. Rules 

Governing Post-Conviction Habeas Corpus Proceedings Rule 4{c). However, orders can be brief 

and may summarily dispose of a plainly meritless case. See Gray v. Ballard, 2015 WL 3952658, 

at *6; see also SyI. Pt. 1, Perdue, 156 W. Va. 467, 194 S.E.2d 657. 

While the circuit court's findings of fact and conclusions of law may have been brief: 

they were sufficient. First, any contention that the circuit court "abdicat[ ed] [its decisionmaking] 

to habeas counsel" and denied Watts's meritless petition based only on "habeas counsel's 

assessment of the habeas petition" is inaccurate on its face. Pet'r Br. at 11. The court's order 

clearly demonstrated that the court denied Watts's petition based on its independent review of 

Watts's case under applicable law. In fact, the circuit court's order explicitly stated on page one 

that "[a]fter considering Petitioner's Motion, the applicable law and the Court file, the Court 

FINDS that Petitioner's Motion, should be DENlED because the same is without merit." AR 27. 
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The court's statement demonstrates on its face that the court undertook an independent review of 

the court file containing case materials, which included Watts's previously submitted pro se 

habeas petition, and the applicable law governing Watts's claims. Though the court agreed with 

and ultimately adopted counsel's assessment of Watts's habeas petition and the conclusions of 

law counsel made in his certificate of no merit, the circuit court represented that it based its 

decision on a conscientious and independent review of the case materials and its institutional 

knowledge of the case over which it had presided for one year and seven months at the time of 

issuing its order denying Watts's petition. See AR at Certified Docket Sheet. 

This court affirmed as sufficient nearly identical [mdings by the same court under similar 

circumstances in Gray v. Ballard, Nos. 14-0836, 15-0105,2015 WL 3952658 (W. Va. June 26, 

2015). In Gray, the same counsel, Mr. Panepinto, had been appointed to represent petitioner. See 

id. at *3. As in this case, Mr. Panepinto, after thoroughly reviewing the record and petitioner's 

claims, concluded that petitioner's claims were meritless and submitted a certificate of no merit. 

See id. On review this Court affirmed the circuit court's denial of petitioner's habeas claims 

without a hearing. Id. at *4. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion, this Court concluded, 

because the "court clearly found" that "petitioner's claims were 'without merit' based on a 

review of Mr. Panepinto's filing as well as '[petitioner]'s various [p]etitions, the applicable 

law[,] and the [c]ourt file." Id. at *4. Further, because the record demonstrated that the "only 

arguably viable claim"-ineffective assistance of counsel, an issue which must often be litigated 

in a habeas proceeding-was clearly without merit, there was no need to remand this case for 

more comprehensive findings.ld. (citing State ex reI. Farmer v. Trent, 209 W. Va. 789, 794 n.3, 

551 S.E.2d 771, 716 n.3 (2001». 
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This case involves the exact same circuit court and counsel as Gray. Similarly, counsel 

submitted a certificate of no merit following the same pattern as in the instant case and the circuit 

court made findings of fact and conclusions of law using similar language as the order at issue in 

this case. And also like in Gray, this Court can easily determine that Watts's lone ineffective 

assistance of counsel claim, alleging that counsel did not adequately consult with him to 

investigate the case, is meritless based on the record. The Court should find, as it did in Gray, 

that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion, and affirm the circuit court's order denying 

Watts's meritless habeas petition. 

B. 	 the Circuit Court's Adoption Of Counsel's Certificate Of No Merit Was 
Sufficient To Deny Watts's Meritless Habeas Petition. 

Even if circuit court did rely on counsel's representations to deny Watts's request for 

habeas relief, it did not err by doing so. See Syl. Pt. 1, Perdue v. Coiner, 156 W. Va. 467, 194 

S.E.2d 657 (1973) (The court may "deny a petition for a writ of habeas corpus without a hearing 

... if the petition, exhibits, affidavits or other documentary evidence filed therewith show to 

such court's satisfaction that the petitioner is entitled to no relief.") (emphasis added). To be 

sure, the statute requires the court to make findings; however, it does not specifically require the 

court to make independent findings. 

The circuit court may rely upon an affidavit from a petitioner's counsel in finding facts to 

deny the petitioner's habeas claim. See Ex parte Hernandez, No. 02-06-290-CR, 2007 WL 

1502028, at *6 (Tex. App. May 24, 2007) (memorandum opinion); see also S. Side Lumber Co. 

v. Stone Constr. Co., 151 W. Va. 439, 442, 152 S.E.2d 721, 723 (1967) ("Though the court did 

not itself fmd the facts specially as provided by the [statutory] rule [of procedure], its action in 

adopting the findings of facts prepared by counsel for the defendants operated to make such 

findings the formal findings of the court.") In Ex Parte Hernandez, a Texas court affirmed a 
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lower court's reliance on trial counsel's affidavit in denying a petitioner's habeas claim. The 

court found that the lower court's order denying habeas relief based on "findings of fact 

essentially adopting ... portions of Hernandez's trial counsel's affidavit" constituted sufficient 

[IDdingS for the court to have denied habeas. Ex parte Hernandez, 2007 WL 1502028, at *6. 

Here, even if the court had merely adopted the findings counsel submitted in its 

certificate of no merit, those findings would have been sufficient to deny Watts's habeas petition. 

Counsel represented that he was a seasoned criminal lawyer who, after speaking with Watts and 

former trial counsel, and thoroughly reviewing approximately 3,000 pages and documents in the 

case record, concluded that he ethically could not bring one single claim before the circuit court 

that Watts asked him to advance. As in Hernandez, where the trial court's [IDdings of fact in 

denying petitioner's habeas petition relied heavily on counsel's affidavit, it would have been 

reasonable for the circuit court to rely on the findings in counsel's certificate of no merit (in 

addition to the court's independent knowledge of the case from presiding over it for one year and 

seven months) to conclude that Watts's arguments held no merit and deny his habeas petition. 

And though Hernandez dealt with the affidavit of trial counsel who no longer represented the 

petitioner, the circumstances are not dissimilar from the instant case where Mr. Panepinto had 

concluded he was ethically compelled to disassociate from the case, and Watts, at the time of the 

court's order, had filed a motion to appoint new habeas counsel. 

Watts presents no evidence to demonstrate or suggest that the findings of the court-that 

his claims were meritless-were wrong. Even where "the trial judge adopts proposed findings 

[of counsel], the [IDdingS are those of the court and may be reversed only if clearly erroneous." 

Freeman v .. Poling, 175 W. Va. 814, 824, 338 S.E.2d 415,425 (1985) (quoting Anderson v. City 

ofBessemer City, 470 U.S. 564, 572 (1985». Because Watts presents no evidence to show that 
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the court erred in concluding his petition was meritless, this Court should affmn the circuit 

court's determination. 

C. 	Any Error From The Brevity Of The Order Of Circuit Court Is Harmless At 
Most. 

Finally, even if this Court were to determine that the circuit court's fmdings and 

conclusions lacked the requisite specificity, the error was harmless at most. This Court has 

acknowledged that "[m]ost errors, including constitutional ones are subject to harmless error 

analysis." State ex ref. Waldron v. Scott, 222 W. Va. 122, 126, 663 S.E.2d 576, 580 (2008) 

(citing Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 278 (1993)). Watts fails to provide any argument as 

to why the circuit court's ultimate determination that his habeas petition held no merit was 

incorrect and therefore not harmless. In fact, under representation of current counsel, Watts has 

abandoned many of the ineffective assistance arguments that he previously raised in circuit court. 

And as discussed above, the ineffective assistance arguments Warts continues to assert in these 

proceedings are likewise meritless because Watts fails to meet his burden to adequately plead his 

claims. He has failed to show that the circuit erred in its ultimate determination concerning the 

merit of his petition for habeas relief. Therefore, the brevity of the circuit court's order is at most 

harmless error. 

However, if this Court fmds that the circuit court's order necessitates a "more developed 

final order," Ballard v. Hurt, 230 W. Va. 374, 380, 738 S.E.2d 538, 544 (2012); see also 

Johnson v. Ballard, No. 11-0209,2012 WL 5869967, at *2 (November 19, 2012) (memorandum

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